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SAUDI TADAWUL GROUP HOLDING COMPANY 
(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at 3 I December 2021 
(Saudi Arahian Wwils) 

ASSETS 

Non-current assets 
Property and equipment 
Intangible assets 
Equity-accounted investee 
Right of use assets 
Investments 
Total non-current assets 

Current assets 
Accounts receivable 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 
Investments 
Deposits with Saudi Central Bank (SAMA) 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Total current assets 

Total assets 

EQUITY AND LlABfLITIES 

Equity 

Share capital 
Statutory reserve 
General reserve 
Retained earnings 
Total equity 

Non-current liabilities 
Employees' end-of-service benefits liability 
Lease liability 
Total non-current liabilities 

Current liabilities 

Margin deposits from clearing participants 
Members' contribution to clearing house funds 
Lease liability 
Accounts payable 
Balance due to Capital Market Authority (CMA) 
Deferred revenue 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 
Zakat payable 
Total current liabilities 

Total liabilities 

Total equity and liabilities 

31 December 
Notes 2021 

4 
5 
6 
H 
7 

9 

JO 

7 

ll 

12 

1 
13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

16 
19 

20 

21 
22 
23 

56,056,384 
144,727,277 
375,616,085 

7,120,394 
55,272,377 

638, 792,S 17 

60,547,611 
108,059,619 

2,631,732,808 
28,013,567 
76,197,458 

2,904,551,063 
3,543,343,580 

1,200,000,000 
360,000,000 

1,532,440,906 
3,092,440,906 

96,876,185 

96,876,185 

14,386,707 
3,626,642 

982,913 
6,785,710 

22,280,843 
3,214,902 

236,085,074 
66,663,698 

354,026,489 
450,902,674 

3,543,343,580 

31 December 
2020 

21,381,712 
179,552,282 
378,895,293 
19,856.726 

IO 1.267.886 
700,953,899 

57,364,8 I 8 
102,271,835 

3,103,518,964 
32,177,558 
96,798,376 

3,392,131 .551 
4,093,085,450 

1,200,000,000 
376,963,633 

l,114,180,214 
943,478,532 

3,634,622,379 

91,024,046 
4,658,348 

95,682,394 

19,030,340 
3,147,217 
9,128,643 
5,977,047 

32,758,785 
3,223,464 

205,953,907 
83.561,274 

362,780,677 
458,463,071 

4,093,085,450 

The accompanying notes from (I) through (37) fonn an integral part of these consoli 
statements. 

--c:eS( Cc
Chairperson ' 
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SAUDI TADAWVL GROUP HOLDING COMPANY 
(A SAUDI JOINT STOC'K COMPANY) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS 
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

For the year ended 31 December 2021 
(Samii Arahia11 Riyal.\') 

For the year ended 
31 December 
2021 2020 

------

Operating revenue 
Operating costs 
Gross profit 

General and administrative expenses 
lmpaim1ent reversal/ (loss) on financial assets 
Operating profit 

Investment income 
Share of loss in equity-accounted investee 
Finance cost 
Other income 
Non-operating profit 

Profit for the year before Zakat 
Zakat expense 
Net profit for the year 

Other comprehensive income: 

Item tliat will not be reclassdied to pro.fit or loss 
Re-measurement of employees· end-of-service benefits 
liability 

Other comprehensive loss for the year 

Total comprehensive profit for the year 

Basic and diluted earnings per share 

14 

15 

26 

17 

1X 

6 

23 

15 

29 

1,166,080,140 1,079,635,090 
345 91 599 (325,233,118) 
820,688,541 754.40 I. 972 

(209,669,462) (192,583,382) 
814

2
878 18,659,796) 

611,833,957 543,158,794 

40,596,274 38,797,145 
(3,279,208) (2, IO 1,685) 

(956,484) (253,057) 
5

2
732

2
352 4,478

!
947 

42,092,934 40,921,350 

6532926
2891 584.080.144 

{66
2
223J60} {83,561,274) 

587,703,531 500,518,870 

(9,885,004) (5,301,735) 

(9,885,004) (5,301,735) 

577,818,527 495,217,135 

4.90 4.17 

The accompanying notes from ( 1) through (37) form an integral part of these consolidated financial 
statements. 

� � 
' 

Chairperson Group Chief £r:eclllfre O.fjicer Group Chief Financial O.fficcr 
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SAUDI TADAWUL GROUP HOLDING COMPANY 
(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

Balance as at I January 2021 
Total comprehensive income for the year 
Net profit for the year 
Other comprehensive loss for the year 

Transaction with the owners of the Group 
Dividends (Note 33) 

Transfen between reserves 
Transfer to retained earning 
Transfer to retained earning 
Balance as at 31 December 2021 

Balance as at I January 2020 
Total comprehensive income for the year 
Net profit for the year 
Other comprehensive loss for the year 
Transaction with the ownen of the Group 
Dividends (Note 33) 
Transfers between reserves 
Transfer to statutory reserve 
Balance as at 31 December 2020 

(Saudi Arahian Riyals) 

Sha.re CaJ!,ita.l 

1,200,000,000 

1,200,000,000 

I ,200,000,000 

I �200,000,000 

Statutory 
reserve 

376,963,633 

(16,963,633) 

360,000,000 

326,911,746 

50,051,887 
376,963,633 

General 
reserve 

1,114,180.214 

1,114,180,214 

l,114. I 80.214 

1.114, I 80,214 

The accompanying notes from (I) through (37) form an integral part of these cons 

� �;, '/ 

Chairper.mn °'\" 
�� '-

Group C/ricf Exec111i1't' OUic:er 

7 

Retained 
carnin.1:,s 

943,478,532 

587,703,531 
(9,885,004) 

(I, 120,000,000) 

16,963,633 
1,114,180.,214 
1,532,440,906 

6 I S,3 I 3,284 

500,518,870 
(5,301,735) 

( I 20,000,000) 

(50,051,887) 
943,478,532 

'fotal �uitv 

3,634,621,37() 

587, 703,531 
(9,885,004) 

(I, 120,000,000) 

3�0J2,440
.?. 
906 

3,259,405,244 

500,518,870 
(5,301,735) 

( I 20,000,000) 

3,634,622.379 



SAUDI TADAWUL GROUP HOLDING COMPANY 

(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPAI\Yl 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

For the year end 31 December 2021 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Profit atier zakat 

(Saudi Arahian Riyals) 

Aclj11st111e11/s tu rl!co11dle 11et profit.for th,· p,:riocl tu lie!/ rn.sh g,·111.'mt,·d 
,fi-0111 operating aclil'ith•s: 

Zakm 
o .. ,,r,:ciatiun am.I amunization 
(Rcwrsal) / d1arge for cr .. -Jit loss\.'S on accounts recci,ahle 
Chargc/(rcwrsal) for impuinncnt on inwl>tmcnts hclJ at a11111rti✓<."(I cost 
Provision for cmploy\.'1.'S · end-ot�s .. ·rviec b .. "11clits 
Realised gain on sale of inv .. -stments 
Llnrcalis .. '<.I gain on inV\.'Strnents 
DiviJt."lld income 
Sp..-cial commission inc11111e 
Share of loss in equity-accounted invcst1.-c 
lnten:st expense on 11.'llsc liability 

Changes in operatb1g ossets and liabilities: 

Deposits with Saudi Central Bank (SAMA) 
Accounts receivable 
Prepaid expenses and other curTC11t assets 
Margin deposits from clearing participants 
Mt."11lben; · contribution to clearing house funds 
Accounts payable 

Balance due to Capital Market Authority 
Cxfmed n:vcnuc 
Accru1.-d expenses and other current liabilities 
Cash generated from operations 

Employees· end-of-service benefits paid 
Zakat paid 

Net cash generated from operating activities 
Cuh flows from Investing activities 
Purchase of investments 
Additionul investment in equity-accounted investee 
Proceeds from disposal of investments 
Special commission income received 

Proceeds from maturity of sukuk 
Purchase of intangible assets and property and equipment 

Net cub used In Investing activities 
Cuh flows from fln■nclng activities 
Dividends paid 
Interest payment oflease liability 
Principal repayment oflease liability 

Net cash used In nnancing activities 
Net Increase/ ( decrease) In cash and cash equlnlents 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 
Cash and cash equivalents ■t end of the period 

Non-cash supplemental Information 
Conversion of sukuk investment to equity-accounted investee 

15 

15 

!J 

311 

11 

II 

For the ,·car ended 
31 December 

2021 2020 

S87,703,S3l 500.518.870 

66,223,360 
57,016,184 

(817,875) 
2,997 

11,,'30,706 
(8,826, IS3) 

(22,134,258) 
(6,103,257) 
(3,Sl9,00S) 
(3,279,208) 

956,484 

4,163,991 
(3,182,793) 
(S,787,784) 
(4,643,633) 

479,425 
808,663 

(10,477,942) 
(8,562) 

30,131,167 
690,136,038 

(IS,463,S71) 
(83,120,936) 

S91,SS1,S31 

(1,990,SI0,071) 

2,SS2,364,27S 
3,218,8:Z0 

(43,464,911) 
S:zt,608,113 

(1,120,000,000) 
(956,484) 

(12,804,078) 

( I, 133,760,562) 

(:Z0,600,918) 
96,798.376 
76,197,458 

lG.561.274 
48.2 I 3.576 
IIJ.7J5.X51J 

( l.07C1.06Jl 
11,300.262 

( 15. 75 I .50X I 

(lUil7.60lJ1 

( 11.367.239) 

(2.856.686) 

(2. IO 1.685 l 
253.057 

(32,177,558) 
(35,920,798) 

569,165 
19,030,340 

3,147,217 
5,760.718 

10,428,584 
88,497 

25.768.038 
618,306.3 I I 

(2,872,352) 

615,433,959 

(2.558,20 l, 111) 
(210.000.000) 
2,080.331.4 77 

3,998,707 
75,000,000 

(45,676.373) 

(654,547,300) 

( 120,000.000) 
(253,057) 

( I 2.323,093) 

(132,576.150) 

( I 71,689,491 l 
268,487,867 
96,798,376 

130,000,000 

The accompanying notes from (I) through (37) fonn an integral part of these consolid 
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SAUDI TADAWUL GROUP HOLDING COMPANY 

(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY) 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For year ended 31 December 2021 

1. GENERAL

(Saudi Arahian Riyals) 

Saudi Tadawul Group Holding Company (formerly ''Saudi Stock Exchange Company'') ("Tadawur·
or the "Company") is a Saudi joint stock company registered in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia under
Commercial Registration number 1010241733 dated 2/12/1428 H (corresponding to 12 December
2007). The Company was established by the Royal Decree no. M/15 dated 01/03/1428 H
(corresponding to 20 March 2007) and the Ministry of Commerce resolution no. 320/k dated
1/12/1428 H (corresponding to 11 December 2007).

The Company was wholly owned by the Government of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (the
"Government'') as ultimate controlling party through the Public Investment Fund (''PIF"). As at 31
December 2021, the authorized, issued and fully paid-up share capital of the Company is SR 1,200
million (31 December 2020: SR 1,200 million) divided into 120 million shares (31 December 2021:
120 million shares) of SR 10 each.

During the year, the Company announced its restructuring which resulted in transforming the Saudi
Stock Exchange (Tadawul) into a holding company under the name of Saudi Tadawul Group Holding
Company, a parent company of four wholly owned subsidiaries; Saudi Exchange Company
(Exchange), Securities Clearing Center Company (Muqassa); the Securities Depository Center
Company (Edaa); and Tadawul Advance Solutions Company (Wamid), details of these subsidiaries

given in note 1.1. From 1 June 2021, the operations of the Company, that included listing, trading
and dissemination of securities information, were transferred to the Exchange.

These consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries ( collectively referred to as "the Group").

The Company's main activities, after becoming a holding company, are managing and supporting
subsidiaries or participating in the management of other companies in which it owns shares, investing
its funds in shares and other securities, owning real estate and other properties in connection with its

businesses, granting loans, guarantees and financing to its subsidiaries, and owning and leasing
industrial property rights to its subsidiaries or other companies.

The Group's main activities through dedicated subsidiaries (given in note 1.1) is to provide, a listing
service, create and manage the mechanisms of trading of securities, providing depository and

registration services for securities ownership, clearing of securities trades, dissemination of securities
information and engage in any related other activity to achieve the objectives as defined in the Capital
Market Law.

On December 08, 2021, the Company completed its Initial Public Offering ("IPO") and its ordinary

shares were listed on the Exchange. In connection with the IPO, the Government through PIF sold
30% of their stake representing 36 million ordinary shares. Accordingly, the PIF now holds 70%
(2020: 100%) of the share capital.

The Company's registered address is as follows:

6897 King Fahd Road - Al Olaya
Unit Number: 15
Riyadh 12211-3388
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

9 



SAUDI TADAWUL GROUP HOLDING COMPANY 

(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY) 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For year ended 31 December 2021 

1. GENERAL (CONTINUED)

(Saudi Arabian R(vals) 

1.1 Details of the Company's subsidiaries 

Ownership, 

Country of Commercial Direct and 
Name of 

Incorporation & Registration Business Effective 
Subsidiary 

Legal Status dated 
Activity 

2021 2020 

Security 
Kingdom of Saudi 

11/27/1437 H 
Depository 

Depository Center 
Arabia, Closed 

( corresponding 
and 

100% 100% 
Saudi Joint Stock registration of 

Company ''Edaa" 
Company 

to 30 August 
securities 

2016 G) 

Securities Kingdom of Saudi 02/06/1439 H
Clearing 

Clearing Center Arabia, Closed ( corresponding 
services of 100% 100% 

Company Saudi Joint Stock to 18 February 
securities 

"Muqassa" Company 2018 G) 

Financial 
Tadawul 

Kingdom of Saudi 
11/02/1442 H technology 

Advanced 
Arabia, Closed 

( corresponding solutions, 
Solution 

Saudi Joint Stock 
to 28 September innovative 100% 100% 

Company 
Company 

2020 G) capital market 
"Wamid" solutions for 

stakeholders 

Listing and 

Saudi Exchange 
Kingdom of Saudi 17/08/1442 H trading of The 

Company 
Arabia, Closed ( corresponding securities, 

100% 
company 

Saudi Joint Stock to 31 March market did not 
"Exchange" 

Company 2021 G) information exist 

dissemination 

Going Concern 

Paid up 
Share 

capital - SR 

400,000,000 

600,000,000 

75,000,000 

600,000,000 

The Coronavirus ("COVID-19") pandemic continues to disrupt global markets as many geographies 

are experiencing multiple waves of infections despite having previously controlled the outbreak 

through aggressive precautionary measures. The Government of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, 

however, managed to successfully control the outbreak to date. 

These events have impacted businesses and economies. The management of the Group is 

continuously monitoring the situation and its impact on the Group's operations, cash flows and 

financial position. Management believes, based on their assessment, that the Group has sufficient 

liquidity available to continue to meet its financial commitments for the foreseeable future as and 

when they become due. 

10 



SAUDI TADAWUL GROUP HOLDING COMPANY 
(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY) 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For year ended 3 I December 2021 

(Saudi Arabian R�yals) 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1 Statement of compliance 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (''IFRS") as endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other 
standards and pronouncements that are issued by Saudi Organization for Chartered and 
Professional Accountants ("SOCPA") and in compliance with the provisions of the Regulations 
for Companies in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and the By-laws of the Group. 

The new Regulation for Companies issued through Royal Decree M/3 on 11 November 2015 
(hereinafter referred as "the Law'") came into force on 25/07/1437H (corresponding to 2 May 2016). 
The Company has amended its By-laws for any changes to align those with provisions of the Law. 

Consequently, the Company presented its amended By-laws to stockholders in their Extraordinary 
General Assembly meeting for their ratification on 2 January 2021 and Extraordinary General 
Assembly approved it. 

2.2 Basis of measurement 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on historical cost basis, except for 
financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss and employees' end-of-service benefits 
which is measured at fair value. 

2.3 Functional and presentation currency 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Saudi Arabian Riyals ("SAR"), which is the 
functional and presentational currency of the Group. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest 
SAR. 

2.4 Critical accounting estimates and judgments 

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia requires 
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting 
policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, profit and expenses. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods 
affected. 

Information about material assumptions and estimation uncertainties are included in: 

- Impairment of equity-accounted investee:
As referred to in note 3.8 of these consolidated financial statements, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of its investment for the assessment of impairment. To compute the
recoverable amount of equity-accounted investee, the Group applies its judgement in determining
the recoverable amount. Based on the evaluation, the Group has concluded that there is no
impairment to be recorded.

- Valuation of the employees' end-of-service benefits liability

The costs of defined benefit plans are determined using actuarial valuations. The actuarial valuation
involves making assumptions, which are reviewed annually. Key assumptions include discount
rates, future salary increases, employee turnover and mortality rates. Due to the complexity of the
valuation, the underlying assumptions and the long-term nature of these plans, such estimates are
subject to significant uncertainty. Information about amounts reported in respect of defined benefit
plans, assumptions applicable to the plans and their sensitivity to changes are presented in Note 15.

11 



SAUDI TADAWUL GROUP HOLDING COMPANY 

(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY) 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For year ended 31 December 2021 
(Saudi Arahian Riyals) 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements are set out below.

3.1 Changes in acco1111ti11g policies

Amendments and interpretations adopted in preparation o( these consolidated.financial statements

Below amendments to accounting standards and interpretations became applicable for annual 

reporting periods commencing on or after l January 2021. The management has assessed that the 

amendments did not have any significant impact on the Group•s financial statements. 

• Interest Rate Benchmark Refom1 - Phase 2 -Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments,
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, IFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures, IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts and IFRS 16 Leases

• COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 -Amendment to IFRS 16 Leases

New standards and amendments issued but not yet e_{(ective and not early adopted 

The accounting standards, amendments and revisions which have been published and are mandatory 

for compliance for the Group's accounting year beginning on or after 1 January 2022 are listed below. 

The Group has opted not to early adopt these pronouncements and do not expect these to have 

significant impact on the consolidated financial statements. 

• Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 - Amendment to IFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments,
IAS 41 Agriculture, IFRS 16 Leases, Illustrative Example 13 -effective l Jan 2022

• Reference to the Conceptual Framework-Amendments to IFRS 3 - effective 1 Jan 2022

• Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use-Amendments to IAS 16 -
effective l Jan 2022

• Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract: Amendments to IAS 3 7 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets effective 1 Jan 2022

• IFRS 1 7 Insurance Contracts*, including amendments Initial Application of IFRS 17 and

IFRS 9 - Comparative Information - effective 1 Jan 2023

• Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current -Amendments to IAS 1

Presentation of Financial Statements - effective 1 Jan 2023

• Definition of Accounting Estimates - Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes

in Accounting Estimates and Errors - effective 1 Jan 2023

• Disclosure Initiative: Accounting Policies - Amendments to IAS l Presentation of

Financial Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements -
effective 1 Jan 2023

• Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising from a Single Transaction -
Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes - effective 1 Jan 2023

• Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture -
Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in
Associates and Joint Ventures -To be determined

The management of the Group anticipates that the application of these new standards and 
amendments in the future will not have significant impact on the amounts reported. 



SAUDI TADAWUL GROUP HOLDING COMPANY 

(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY) 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For year ended 31 December 2021 
(Saudi Arahian Riyals) 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Basis of co11solidatio11

These consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Tadawul and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as ""the Group''). Control is achieved when the Group is exposed

to or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the investee.

ln assessing control, the Group considers both substantive rights that it holds and substantive rights
held by others. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date that control commences until the date control ceases it derecognises the
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and any related NCI and other components of equity. Any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is
measured at fair value when control is lost.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised profit and expenses ( except for foreign
currency transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated.

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted investees are eliminated against the
investment to the extent of the Group's interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

3.3 Fi11a11cial illstruments

i. Recognition and initial measurement:

Account receivables are in initially recognized when they are originated. All other financial assets
and financial liabilities are initially recognized when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is an account receivable without a significant financing component) or
financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus or minus, for an item not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. An account
receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price.

ii. Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets:

The classification and measurement of financial assets is set out below:

Under IFRS 9, upon initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at:
amortised cost; 
fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) - debt investment; 
fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) - equity investment; or 
fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 

The classification of financial assets under IFRS 9 is generally based on the business model in which 
a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow characteristics. 

13 



SAUDI TADAWUL GROUP HOLDING COMPANY 

(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY) 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For year ended 31 December 2021 
(Saudi Arabian R(vals) 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial assets at amortized cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVTPL:

- it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash
flows; and

- its contractual tem1s give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Investments in debt securities which meet the above conditions, cash and cash equivalents, accounts 
receivable, accrued operational revenue and other receivables are carried at amortized cost. 

Financial assets at FVOCI 

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 
designated as at FVTPL: 
-it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual
cash flows and selling financial assets; and
- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably 
elect to present subsequent changes in the investment's fair value in OCI. This election is made on 
an investment-by-investment basis. 

Financial assets at FVTPL 

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are 

measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the Group 
may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at 
amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch that would otherwise arise. 

Investment in units of mutual funds is carried at FVTPL. 

Financial assets - Business model assessment 

The Group makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is 

held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information 
is provided to management. The information considered includes: 

-the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice.
These include whether management's strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income,
maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the
duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realising cash flows through the sale
of the assets;

-how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group's management;

- the risks that affect the performance of the business model ( and the financial assets held within that
business model) and how those risks are managed;

14 



SAUDI TADAWUL GROUP HOLDING COMPANY 

(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY) 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For year ended 31 December 2021 
(Saudi Arahian R(vals) 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.3 Financial i11strume11ts (continued) 

- how managers of the business are compensated - e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair
value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and

- the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such
sales and expectations about future sales activity.

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are 
not considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Group's continuing recognition of the 
assets. 

Financial assets that are held for trading or are managed and whose performance is evaluated on a 
fair value basis are measured at FVTPL. 

Financial assets - Assessme11t whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal 
and i11terest 

For the purposes of this assessment, 'principal' is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on 
initial recognition. 'Interest' is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit 
risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other 
basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin. 

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the 
Group considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the 
financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash 
flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Group considers: 

- contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;
- terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable-rate features;
- prepayment and extension features; and

- terms that limit the Group's claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse features).

A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments of principal and interest criterion if the 
prepayment amount substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding, which may include reasonable compensation for early termination of the 
contract. Additionally, for a financial asset acquired at a discount or premium to its contractual 
paramount, a feature that permits or requires prepayment at an amount that substantially represents 
the contractual par amount plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual interest (which may also include 
reasonable compensation for early termination) is treated as consistent with this criterion if the fair 

value of the prepayment feature is insignificant at initial recognition. 

The following accounting policies apply to the subsequent measurement of financial assets. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.3 Financial instruments (continued) 

Financial assets at These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, 
FVTPL including any interest or dividend profit, are recognised in profit or loss. 
Financial assets at These assets are recognized initially at cost and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost amortised cost using the effective interest method. The amortised cost is 

reduced by impaim1ent losses. Interest profit, foreign exchange gains and 
losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on 
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss. 

Debt investments These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income is 
at FVOCI calculated using the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and 

losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and 
losses are recognized in OCI. On derecognition, gams and losses 
accumulated in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss. 

Equity These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are 
investments at recognised as income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents 
FVOCI a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses 

are recognised in OCI and are never reclassified to profit or loss. 

iii. C/ass(fication and measurement of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Interest 
expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on 
derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss, unless they are required to be measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. The Group measure all financial liabilities at amortised cost except employees' 
end-of-service benefit liability. 

iv. Derecognition

Financial assets 

A financial asset is derecognized when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 
asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which 
the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it 
does not retain control of the financial asset. 

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset ( or the 
carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset derecognized) and the sum of (i) the 
consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any 
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognized in OCI is recognized in profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities 

A financial liability is derecognized when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or 
expired. 

v. Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and reported net in the statement of financial position when
there is a currently legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and when the Group
intends to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Profit and
expenses are not being offset in the statement of profit or loss unless required or permitted by any
accounting standard or interpretation, and as specifically disclosed in the accounting policies of the
Group.

16 



SAUDI TADAWUL GROUP HOLDING COMPANY 
(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY) 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For year ended 31 December 2021 
(Saudi Arabian R(vals) 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.3 Fi11ancial instruments (continued) 

vi. Impairment o..ffinancial assets

IFRS 9 uses the 'expected credit loss' (ECL) model to assess the impairment of financial assets. The
impairment model applies to financial assets measured at amortised cost, contract assets and debt
investments at FVOCI, but not to investments in equity instruments.

The expected credit loss shall be measured and provided either at an amount equal to (a) 12 month
expected losses; or (b) lifetime expected losses. If the credit risk of the financial instrument has not
increased significantly since inception, then an amount equal to 12 month expected loss is provided.
In other cases, lifetime credit losses shall be provided. For trade receivables with a significant

financing component, a simplified approach is available, whereby an assessment of increase in credit
risk need not be performed at each reporting date. Instead, the Group can choose to provide for the

expected losses based on lifetime expected losses. The Group has chosen to avail the option of
lifetime expected credit losses ("ECL"). For trade receivables with no significant financing
component, the Group is required to follow lifetime ECL.

The Group recognizes loss allowances for Expected Credit Losses (ECLs) on:
- financial assets measured at amortised cost;
- debt instruments measured at FVOCI; and
- contract assets

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, 
which are measured at 12-months ECLs: 
- debt instruments that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and
- other debt instruments and bank balances for which credit risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition.

Loss allowances for accounts receivables and contract assets are always measured at an amount 
equal to lifetime ECLs. 

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since 
initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the group considers reasonable and supportable 

information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both 
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the group's historical experience and 

informed credit assessment, that includes forward-looking information. 

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more 
than 30 days past due. 

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when: 
- the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the

Group to actions such as realizing security (if any is held); or
- the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

Measurement of ECLs 

ECLs are probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present 
value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cashflows due to the entity in accordance 
with the contract and the cashflows that the Group expects to receive.) 

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.3 Fi11a11cial i11strume11ts (co11tinued) 

Presentation of allowance for ECL in statement of financial position 
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying 
amount of the assets. Impairment losses related to accounts receivables and investments at amortized 
cost are presented in profit or loss. 

For debt securities at FVOCI, the loss allowance is charged to profit or loss and is recognised in OCI. 

Write-off 

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written-off when the group has no reasonable 
expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. The Group has a policy 
of writing off the gross carrying amount when: 
- the customer has been deemed bankrupt;
- the customer seized to exist as a legal entity; or
- the group negotiated a partial payment where the rest of the outstanding balance will be written-
off

3.4 Property and equipmellt

Property and equipment except land are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Land is measured at its cost.

The cost include expenditure directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset including the cost of
purchase and any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for
their intended use. Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it increases the future economic
benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates.

When parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for
as separate items (major components) of property and equipment.

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the assets
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset)
is included in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognized.

The cost of replacing part of an item of operating fixed assets is recognized in the carrying amount
of the item if it is probable the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the
Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognized. The cost of the day-to-day servicing of operating fixed assets are recognized in the
profit or loss as incurred.

Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated over depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset, or other amount
substituted for cost, less its residual value.

Depreciation is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of
each component of an item of property and equipment. Depreciation of an asset begins when it is
available for use.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.4 Property a11d equipment (co11tinued)

The estimated useful lives for cunent and comparative periods of different items of property and
equipment are as follows:

Building 

Furniture and fixtures 

Computers 

Office equipment 

Vehicles 

Estimated 
useful lives (vears) 

30 
10 
4 
6 
4 

Depreciation methods, useful lives, impairment indicators and residual values are reviewed at each 
annual reporting date and adjusted, if appropriate. 

3.5 Intangible assets 

These represent software held for use in the nom1al course of the business and are stated at cost less 
accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Amortization is charged to 
profit or loss over an estimated useful life of the software using the straight-line method. The 
estimated useful life of software is 6 years. 
Work in progress is stated at cost until the development of software is complete and installed. The 
software is developed by third parties to the Group's specification. Upon the completion and 
installation, the cost together with cost directly attributable to development and installation are 
capitalized to the intangibles. No amortization is charged on work in progress. 

3.6 Impairment of non-financial assets 

The can-ying amounts of the Group's non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to 
detennine whether there is any indication of impainnent. If any such indication exists, then the 
asset's recoverable amount is estimated. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its 
fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted 
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 

time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets 
that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates 
cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or 
groups of assets (the "cash-generating unit", or ''CGU"). 

For the purposes of goodwill impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is 
allocated to the group of CGUs that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. 

This allocation is subject to an operating segment ceiling test and reflects the lowest level at which 
that goodwill is monitored for internal reporting purposes. 

The Group's corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows. Therefore, a corporate asset is 
not tested for impaim1ent as an individual asset on a stand-alone basis, unless management has 
decided to dispose of the asset. If there is an indication that a corporate asset may be impaired, then 
the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the corporate asset belongs. A portion 
of a corporate asset is allocated to a CGU when the allocation can be done on a reasonable and 
consistent basis. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.6 lmpairme11t of 11011-financial assets (continued)

When a portion of a corporate asset cannot be allocated to a CGU on a reasonable and consistent
basis, two levels of impainnent tests are carried out.

- The first test is perfonned at the individual CGU level without the corporate asset (bottom-up test),
and any impaim1ent loss is recognized.

- 1 he second test is applied to the minimum collection of CG Us to which the corporate asset can be
allocated reasonably and consistently (top-down test) ..

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated 
recoverable amount. Impaim1ent losses are recognized in profit or loss. Impainnent losses 
recognized in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 
allocated to the units, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the unit on a pro 
rata basis. 

An impainnent loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. Impaim1ent losses recognized in prior 
periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer 
exists. An impaim1ent loss ( except against goodwill) is reversed if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to detem1ine the recoverable amount. An impaim1ent loss is reversed only to the 
extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized. 

3. 7 Investments in equity-accounted investees 

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint 
control. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy 
decisions of the investee. 

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method and are recognized initially at 
cost. The consolidated financial statements include the Group's share of the profit and expenses and 
equity movements of equity-accounted investees, after adjustments to align the accounting policies 
with those of the Group, from the date that significant influence commences until the date that 
significant influence ceases. 

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity-accounted investee, the carrying 

amount of that interest, including any long-term investments, is reduced to nil, and the recognition 
of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has a corresponding obligation. 

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognize an 
impairment loss on its investment in its associate. At each reporting date, the Group determines 
whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If there is 
such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the 
recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognizes the loss in the profit and 
loss. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.8 Deposits witlt the Saudi Central Bank ("SAMA•�

Cash received from the clearing members to cover initial and variation margins and default fund
contributions are deposited with the Saudi Central Bank ("SAMA"). Moreover, the Group has also
made an initial deposit as required by the Capital Markey Authority ("'CMA'"). These deposits are
carried at amortised cost and are not available for use by the Group in its day-to-day operations.

3.9 Caslt and caslt equivalellts

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash at banks in current accounts and other short­
term liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less and that are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, if any, which are available to the Group without any
restrictions.

3.10 Margin deposits from clearing participants 

The Group receives margin deposits from its clearing members as collateral in connection with the 
outstanding derivative contracts between the Group and its members. The obligation to refund the 

margin deposits is recognized and presented as margin deposits from clearing participants under 
current liabilities. Liabilities held in this category are initially recognised at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

3.11 Members' contributions to clearing lwusefunds 

This represents a prefunded default arrangement that is composed of assets contributed by the 
Group's participants that may be used by the Group in certain circumstances to cover losses or 
liquidity pressures resulting from participant defaults. These balances are included under current 

liabilities. Liabilities held in this category are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. 

3.12 Provisions 

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will 
be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future 
cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost in profit 
or loss. 

3.13 Employees' end-of-service benefits liability 

Employees' end-of-service benefits are payable to all employees employed under the terms and 

conditions of the labor laws applicable to the Group. 

The Group's net obligation in respect of employees' end-of-service benefits is calculated by 
estimating the amount of future benefits that employees have earned in the current and prior periods. 
That benefit is discounted to determine its present value. 

Re-measurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses, are recognized immediately in the 
consolidated statement of financial position with a corresponding debit or credit to retained earnings 
through other comprehensive income, in the period in which they occur. Re-measurements are not 
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.13 Employees' end-of-service benefits liability (conti1111ed) 

The Group recognises the following changes in the defined benefits obligation under 'operating cost' 
and 'general and administrative expenses' in the profit and loss account: 

• Service costs comprising current service costs, past-service costs, gains and losses on
curtailments and non-routine settlements; and

• Interest expense.

The calculation of defined benefits obligation is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the 
projected unit credit method. 

3.14 Revenue recognitio11 

The main source of the Group's revenue is through fees for services provided. Revenue is measured 
based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer. 

The Group recognises revenue under IFRS 15 using the following five steps model: 

Step 1: Identify the contract 
with customer 

Step 2: Identify the 
performance obligations 
Step 3: Determine the 
transaction price 

Step 4: Allocate the transaction 
price 

Step 5: Recognise revenue 

A contract is defined as an agreement between two or more 
parties that creates enforceable rights and obligations and sets out 
the criteria for every contract that must be met. 
A performance obligation is a promise in a contract with a 
customer to transfer a good or deliver a service to the customer. 
The transaction price is the amount of consideration to which the 
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring 
promised goods or deliver services to a customer, excluding 
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 
For a contract that has more than one performance obligation, the 
Group allocates the transaction price to each performance 
obligation in an amount that depicts the total consideration to 
which the Group is entitled in exchange for satisfying each 
performance obligation. 
The Group recognises revenue (or as) it satisfies a performance 
obligation by transferring a promised good or deliver a service to 
the customer under a contract. 

The revenue recognition policies for revenue streams under each operating segment are set out below: 

A. Capital Markets

Revenues in the Capital Markets segment are generated from Primary and Secondary market
services.

A. l Primary market initial listing and the ongoing listing services represent a performance obligation
from initial listing and additional issuances at a point-in-time. The Group recognizes the revenue
at the time of admission and additional issuance. All initial listing fees are billed to the listed 
company at the time of admission and become payable when invoiced. 

A.2 Primary market annual listing fees, secondary markets membership and subscription fees are
collected semi-annually and are recorded as unearned revenues (deferred revenue) and

subsequently recognized in profit or loss on a straight line basis over the period of twelve months 
to which the fee relates, as it reflects the extent of the Group's progress towards completion of the 
perfonnance obligation under the contract. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.14 Revenue recog11itio11 (co11ti11ued) 

A.3 Secondary market trading and associated capital market services are recognised as revenue on a
per transaction basis at the point the service is provided. At the same time the Group acts as an
agent to collect the fees owed to CMA from trading participants and transfer them to the regulator 

on a periodical basis. 

A.4 Derivative market trading and associated capital market services are recognised as revenue on a

per transaction basis at the point the service is provided.

B. Post Trade

Revenues in the post trade segment are generated from clearing, settlement, custody and other post
trade services.

B. l Clearing, settlement and custody services generate fees from trades or contracts cleared and settled
and custody services which are recognised as revenue at a point in time when the Group meets its

obligations to complete the transaction or service. In cases where the Group's perforn1ance 
obligations related to custody services are completed over time, revenue is recognised on a straight­
line basis, representing the continuous delivery of services over the period. In cases where there is 
a fixed annual fee for a service, the revenue is recognised and billed monthly in arrears. 

B.2 Other post trade services include revenue from registry services which is collected annually at the
start of the year and is recorded as unearned revenue (deferred revenue) and is subsequently
recognized in profit or loss on a straight line basis over the period to which the fee relates, as it 
reflects the extent of the Group's progress towards completion of the performance obligation under 
the contract. 

C. Data and technology services

The Data and technology services segment generates revenues from the provision of information
and data products including, benchmarks and customized indices, real-time market data, reference
data and analytics services.

C. l Data subscription and index license fees are recognised over the license or usage period as the
Group meets its obligation to deliver data consistently throughout the license period. Services are
billed on a monthly, quarterly or annual basis. 

C.2 Other information services include licenses to the regulatory news service and reference data

businesses. Revenue from licenses that grant the right to access intellectual property are recognised
over time, consistent with the pattern of the service provision and how the performance obligation 
is satisfied throughout the license period. 

D. Other Fees are generated from the provision of events and media services, and are typically

recognised as revenue at the point the service is rendered and becomes payable when invoiced.

E. Dividend income.

Dividend income recognized when the right to receive is established.

F. Special commission income.

Special commission income recognized in profit or loss on an effective yield basis.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.15 Expenses 

General and administrative expenses are those arising from the Group's efforts underlying the 
marketing, consultancy, administrative and maintenance functions. Allocations of common expenses 
between operating costs and general and administrative expenses, when required, are made on a 
consistent basis. 

3.16 Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of the Group 
entities at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to the functional currency at the exchange 
rate ruling at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between 
amortized cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective interest 
and payments during the year, and the amortized cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange 
rate at the end of the reporting year. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair 
value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate when the 
fair value was determined. Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognized in 
profit or loss, except for differences arising on the retranslation of FVOCI instruments, which are 
recognized in other comprehensive income. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction. 

3.17 Zakat 

Based on Royal Decree 35657 issued on 29/6/1442H, the Group is subject to Zakat in accordance 
with the Zakat regulation issued by the General Authority for Zakat and Tax ("ZA TCA") in the 
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia effective I January 2020. Zakat is recognized in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss. Zakat is levied at a fixed rate of 2.5% of the zakat base as defined in the 
Zakat regulations. 

Additional zakat calculated by ZATCA, if any, related to prior years is recognized in the year in 
which final declaration is issued. 

3.18 Contingent liabilities 

All possible obligations arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly with the control of 
the Group; or all present obligations arising from past events but not recognized because: (i) it is not 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation, or (ii) the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. All are 

assessed at reporting date and disclosed in the Group's consolidated financial statements under 
contingent liabilities. 

3.19 Fair value measurement 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is 
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place 
either: 

• In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.19 Fair value measurement (continued) 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of 
an asset or a liability is measured using assumptions that market participants would use when pricing 
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. The fair 

value of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate economic 
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant 
that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs 
and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that 
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

Level I -Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

Level 2 -Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is directly or indirectly observable. 

Level 3 -Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable. 

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring 
basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re­
assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

At each reporting date, management of the Group analyses the movements in the values of assets and 

liabilities which are required to be re-measured or re-assessed as per the Group's accounting policies. 
For this analysis, the management verifies the major inputs applied in the latest valuation by agreeing 
the information in the valuation computation to contracts and other relevant documents. 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities 
based on the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value 
hierarchy as explained above. 

When one is available, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in 
an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as 'active' if transactions for the asset or 

liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an 
ongoing basis. 

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Group uses valuation techniques that 

maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. The 
chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the factors that market participants would take into 
account in pricing a transaction. 

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Group 
measures assets and long positions at a bid price and liabilities and short positions at an ask price. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.19 Fair value measurement (continued) 

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the 

transaction price - i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Group determines 
that the fair value on initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair value is 
evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability nor based 
on a valuation technique for which any unobservable inputs are judged to be insignificant in relation 
to the measurement, then the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer 
the difference between the fair value on initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, 
that difference is recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument 
but no later than when the valuation is wholly supported by observable market data or the transaction 
is closed out. 

3.20 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract 
is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of identified asset for a 
period of time in exchange for consideration. 

As a lessee: 

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The 

right of use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability 
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct 
costs incurred at and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore 
the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received. 

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the 
underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects 
that the Group will exercise a purchase option. In that case the right-of-use asset will be depreciated 
over the useful life the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis as those of property 
and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if 
any, and adjusted for certain re-measurements of the lease liability. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at 
the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot 
be readily determined, the Group's incremental borrowing rate. 

Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments: 

- fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;
- variable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate;
- amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
- the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and
- payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that
option.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised on a 
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 
months or less. Low-value assets comprise small items relating to office equipment. 

26 



SAUDI TADAWUL GROUP HOLDING COMPANY 

(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY) 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For year ended 31 December 2021 
(Saudi Arabian R(vals) 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.20 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities (continued) 

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is re-measured 
when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is 
a change in the Group's estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value 
guarantee, if the Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or 
tem1ination option or if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment. 

When the lease liability is re-measured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the 
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the 
right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero. 

From 1 January 2021, where the basis for determining future lease payments changes as required by 

interest rate benchmark reform the Group re-measures the lease liability by discounting the revised 
lease payments using the revised discount rate that reflects the change to an alternative benchmark 
interest rate. 

As a lessor: 

The Group does not have any contracts in capacity of lessor. 

3.21 Current versus non-curre11t classification 

The Group presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on current / non­
current classification. An asset is classified as current when: 

- expected to be realised or Intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating;
- held primarily for the purpose of trading;
- expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period; or
- cash or cash equivalent, unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at

least twelve months after the reporting period

All other assets are classified as non-current. 

A liability is current when: 

- it is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle;
- it is held primarily for the purpose of trading;
- it is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or
- there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after

the reporting period.

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current 
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4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture 
Land Buildings and fixtures Computers Office equipment Vehicles Total 

Cost: 
Balance as al I 
January 2020 2.310,985 618,248 22,012,162 I 05,4 74,040 18,78 I ,964 1,656,350 150,853,749 
Additions 141,755 35,085 12,455,164 325.042 12.957,046 
Dispos,ils ( 153.594) ( 153.594) 
Balance as at 31 
December 2020 2,3 I0,985 760,003 22,047,247 117.775,610 19,107,006 1,656,350 163,657,20 I 

Balance as al I 
Januaiy 2021 2.310,985 760.003 22,047.247 117.775,610 19.107.006 1,656.350 163.657.20 I 
Additions 3.181,555 394.802 7.605.054 487.115 580.000 12.248.523 
Tiansti:r from 
intangible assds 34.322.078 34.322.078 
Disposals ( 14.530) (14,530) 
Balance as al 31 
December 2021 2,3 I0,985 3,941,558 22.-142.049 159,688,209 19,594,121 2,236,350 210,213,272 

Accumulated 
de(!reciation: 
Balance as at I 
January 2020 89,302 16,409,766 I 02,235,984 16,892,547 1,532,746 137,160,345 
Charge for the year 20.608 610,572 3,958,461 555,493 123,604 5,268,738 
Disposals 1153,594) I 153,"94) 
Balance as at 31 
December 2020 109,910 17,020,338 106,040,851 17,448,040 1,656,350 142,275,489 

Balance as at I 
January 202 I 109,910 17,020,338 I 06,040,851 17,448,040 1,656,350 142,275,489 
Charge for the year 20,608 786,971 10,138,329 846,291 96.229 11,888,428 
Disposals (7,029) (7,029) 
Balance as at 31 
December 2021 130,518 17,807,309 I 16,172,151 18,294,331 1,752,579 154,156,888 

Net book value: 
As at 31 December 

2021 2,310,985 3,811,040 4,634,740 43,516,058 1,299,790 483,771 56,056,384 

As at 3 I December 
2020 2,3 I0,985 650,093 5,026,909 11,734,759 1,658,966 21,381,712 

4.1 Propc1iy and equipment include work in progress which is not depreciated until the asset is 
avail.able for use. 

Capital work-in-progress 

Cost: 
Balance at beginning of the year 
Addition to capital work in progress 
Transferred out from capital work in progress 

Balance at end of the year 
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For the year ended 31 
December 

ml 

2,003,775 
3,438,247 

(1,670,986) 
3,771,036 

2020 

1,571,995 
648,879 

(217,099) 

2,003,775 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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5. INT ANG IBLE ASSETS

Cost: 
Balance at beginning of the year 
Additions 

(Saudi Arahian Riyals) 

Transfer to property and equipment (5.2) 

Balance at end of the year 

Accumulated amortization: 
Balance at beginning of the year 
Charge for the year 

Balance at end of the year 

Net book value as at 31 December 

For the year ended 31 
December 

Zill 

429,409,654 
31,216,388 

(34,322,078) 
426 303 964 

249,857,372 
31,719,315 

281,576,687 

144,727,277 

2020 

396,690,327 
32,719,327 

429,409,654 

220,174,152 
29.683 220 

249,857,372 

179,552,282 

5.1 Intangible assets include work in progress which is not amortized until the asset is available for use. 

Capital work-in-progress 

Cost: 
Balance at beginning of the year 

Addition to capital work in progress 

Transferred from capital work in progress 

Balance at end of the year 

For the year ended 31 
December 

Zill 2020 

98,779,677 103,678,305 

13,868,188 7,056,665 

(30,106,608) (11,955,293) 

82,541,257 98,779,677 

5.2 Reclassification has been made between property and equipment and intangible assets amounting to 
SR 34.3 million for consistency with the current period presentation. This reclassification has no 
impact on the reported results of operations. 

6. EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTEE

This represents the Group's share of investment in Tadawul Real Estate Company ("the Associate"), 
a company incorporated in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, where the Company has influence through 
voting rights. As at 31 December 2021, the Group owns 33.12% (31 December 2020: 33.12%) share 
capital of the Associate. The main activity of the Associate is to develop a commercial office tower 
in King Abdullah Financial District, Riyadh, where the Group expects to be headquartered. 

The Group has recognized its share of loss for the year ended 31 December 2021, based on the 2021 
financial statements of the Associate. The financial restructuring of the Associate was completed 
during the year 2020. The restructuring involved conversion of investment of the Group in the 
Associate in the form of sukuk amounting to SR 130 million to equity investment. Furthermore, the 
Company made additional equity investment amounting to SR 210 million to the Associate. These 
transactions were approved by the Group's Board of Directors on 19 April 2020. This restructuring 
has not resulted to in the Group gaining control over the Associate. 
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6. EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTEE (CONTINUED)

7. 

The movement of investment in the Associate is as follows: 

Balance at beginning of the year 

Additional investment during the year 

Share of loss for the year 
Balance at end of the year 

For the year ended 31 December 

2021 2020 

378,895,293 

3 279 208 
375,616,085 

40,996,978 

340,000,000 
(2,101,685) 
378,895,293 

The following table summarizes the financial infotmation of the Associate as included in the financial 
statements as of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020: 

31 December 31 December 

2021 2020 

Summarized statement of financial position 

Total current assets 86,103,297 298,827,419 
Total non-current assets 2,231,973,900 1,925,466,589 
Total current liabilities 1,072,231,925 969,825,327 
Total non-current liabilities 48,396,004 47,354,400 
Net assets (100%) 1,197,449,269 1,207, 114,281 

31 December 31 December 

2021 2020 
Summarized statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income 
Total revenue 
Net loss (9,900,989) 8,873,149 
Total comprehensive loss for the year (9,900,989) 8,873,149 

INVESTMENTS 

Investment securities portfolios are summarized as follows: 

31 December 31 December 

2021 2020 

Notes 

Non-current 

Investments at amortized t:osl 7.1 '55,272,377 101,267,886 

55,272,377 101 267,886 

Current 

Investments at amortized cost 7.1 101,292,699 
Investments at FVTPL 7.2 2,530,440,109 3,103,518,964 

2,631,732,808 3,103,518,964 
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7. INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)

7. I Investments at amortized cost 

This represents investment in Sukuk issued by counterparties operating in the Kingdom of Saudi 
Arabia having sound credit ratings. The Sukuk carry an average commission rate of 2.4% - 2.5% 
per annum during 2021 (2020: 2.5%). 

The details of these investments are as follow: 

Investment in sukuk - Albilad 
Investment in sukuk - GACA 
Impairment loss on investments are amortized cost (7 .1.1) 

7 .1 Investments at amortized cost ( continued) 

Investment at amortized cost - non current 
Investment at amortized cost - current 

31 December 
2021 

55,286,298 
101,325,640 

(46,862) 
156,565,076 

31 December 
2021 

55,272,377 
101,292,699 
156,565,076 

31 December 
2020 

101,311,751 
(43,865) 

101,267,886 

31 December 
2020 

101,267,886 

101,267,886 

7. I. I The movement of the expected credit losses on investment held at amortized cost is summarized as
follows: 

Balance at the beginning of the year 
Charge I (credit) for the year 
Balance at the end of the year 

Below is the break-up of investment at amortized cost: 

Description Maturity date 
General Authority of Civil Aviation 

18 January 2022 
(GACA) 

Bank Albilad SAR Denominated Tier 2 15 April 2031 

7.2 Investments at fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL"): 

31 December 
2021 

43,865 
2 997 
46,862 

Face value 

100,000,000 

55,000,000 

31 December 
2020 

I 119,928 
(1,076,063) 

43,865 

Classification 

Current asset 

Non-current 
asset 

This represents investment in units of mutual funds, which are governed by the regulation issued by 
CMA. These assets are held by the Group for trading purpose due to which it has been classified as 
current assets. The cost and fair value of investments mandatorily held at FVTPL are as follows: 

Money market funds 
Real estate funds 

Total 

31 December 2021 

Cost 
2,464,606,786 

40,000,000 

2,504,606,786 

Fair value 
2,499,724,667 

30,715,442 

2,530,440,109 

31 

31 December 2020 
Cost Fair value 

3,017,198,517 3,074,346,514 
40,000,000 29,172,450 

3,057,198,517 3,103,518,964 
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8. RIGHT OF USE ASSETS

Balance at beginning of the year 
Additions 
Depreciation charge for the year 
Balance at end of the year 

9. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

(Saudi Arahian Riyals) 

31 December 
2021 

19,856,726 
672,108 

(13,408,440) 
7,120,394 

31 December 
Notes 2021 

Accounts receivable: 
- Related parties
- Others

Less: Allowance for credit losses 

31.1 

9.1 

11,652,168 
74,691,162 

(25,795,719) 
60,547,611 

9 .1 The movement in the allowance for credit losses is summarized as follows: 

Balance at the beginning of the year 
(Charge) I reversal for the year 

Balance at the end of the year 

10. PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Advance against purchase of property 
Prepaid insurance expenses 
Accrued operational revenue 
Advance to employees 
Prepaid maintenance expenses 
Other receivables 

Note 

10.1 

For the year 
ended 31 

December 
2021 

26,613,594 
(817,875) 

25,795,719 

31 December 
2021 

77,500,000 
7,920,038 
9,064,755 
5,404,641 
2,744,593 
5,425,592 

108,059,619 

31 December 
2020 

11,271,347 
21,846,997 

(13,261,618) 
19,856,726 

31 December 
2020 

7,217,825 
76,760,587 

(26,613,594) 
57,3 4,81 

For the year 
ended 31 

December 
2020 

6,877,735 
19,735 859 
26,613,594 

31 December 
2020 

77,500,000 
7,770,332 

10,108,448 
2,875,632 
1,418,613 
2,598,810 

102,271,835 

10.1 This represents advance paid to purchase a property for establishing the data center in King Abdullah 
Financial District. 

11. DEPOSITS WITH SAUDI CENTRAL BANK (SAMA)

This represents cash collateral received from clearing participants in the form of initial margin,
variation margin and default fund. It also includes SR 10 million deposited by the Group as per CMA
guidelines. Commission is earned on such deposits, part of the commission is booked by the Group
and the clearing members' share of the commission is added to their collateral accounts. These are
not available for use by the Group.
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12. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at banks - current accounts 

13. STATUTORY RESERVE

31 December 
2021 

76,197,458 

76,197,458 

31 December 
2020 

96,798,376 

96,798. 76 

In accordance with the Company·s by-law and Saudi Arabian Regulations for Companies in the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, the Company is required to set aside I 0% of its net profit each year as
statutory reserve. The shareholder in the extraordinary general assembly held on 17th August 2021
has decided to discontinue setting aside such percentage when said reserve reaches 30% of paid-in
capital. Since the Company has reached the required reserve level, therefore, no additional transfers
are required to be made as at year end. The Company transferred the net surplus above the 30%
requirement from the statutory reserve to the retained earnings at year-end. The statutory reserve in
the consolidated financial statements is the statutory reserve of the Company. This reserve is currently
not available for distribution to the shareholder of the Company.

14. GENERAL RESERVE

In accordance with the approval of the Chairman of CMA via letter number 524/2007, a balance
of the retained earnings was transferred to a reserve for the purpose of financing the construction
ofTadawul's headquarter in King Abdullah Financial District and any other future purposes to be
decided by the Company's Board of Directors. During the year 2008, the Board of Directors of
the Company had resolved, according to a decision number 6/8/2008, to transfer such balance of
this reserve to a general reserve. On 17th August 2021, the shareholder in the extraordinary
general assembly has decided that the reserve is no longer necessary and transferred it back to
retained earnings.

15. EMPLOYEES' END-OF-SERVICE BENEFITS LIABILITY

The movement in employees' end-of-service benefits is as follows:

Balance at beginning of the year 

Current service cost 
Interest cost 

Amount recognised in profit or loss 
Re-measurement loss recognized in other comprehensive 

mcome 
Benefits paid during the year 

Balance at the end of the year 

15.1 Net end-of-service benefits liability is as follows: 

Present value of benefits liability 
Fair value of plan assets 
Net defined benefits liability 
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For the year ended 31 December 

2021 2020 

91 024,046 

9,691,734 
1 738 972 

11,430,706 

9,885,004 
(15,463,571) 

96,876,185 

31 December 
2021 

96,876,185 

96 876 185 

77 294,401 

9,028,207 
2.272 055 

11,300,262 

5,301,735 
(2,872,352) 

91,024,046 

31 December 
2020 

91,024,046 

91 024 046 
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15. EMPLOYEES' END-OF-SERVICE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

15.2 Re-measurement loss recognized in other comprehensive income for the year is as follows: 

Effect of changes in financial assumptions 
Effect of changes in demographic assumptions 
Effect of experience adjustments 

Re-measurement loss recognized in other 
comprehensive income 

15.3 Principal actuarial assumptions 

Ke:r actuarial assumi:2tions 

Discount rate used 

Future growth in salary 

Turnover 

Mortality rate 

Demogra hie a ·sum Jt ions 
Retirement age 

Discount rate used 

For the year ended 31 December 
2021 2020 

4,894,755 

(813,585) 
5,803,834 

9,885,004 

31 December 
2021 

2.40% 

5.00% 
19.64% 

WHO SA19 
-75%

60 years 

5,930,906 

(629,171) 

5,301,735 

31 December 
2020 

1.85% 

5.00% 

19.43% 

WHO SA19 
75% 

64 years 

This rate is used to obtain the actuarial present value of the projected benefits. As per IAS 19 
Employee Bene.fits, the rate to be used to discount post-employment benefit obligations (both funded 
and un-funded) shall be determined by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period 
on high quality corporate bonds. In countries where there is no deep market in such bonds, the market 
yields (at the end of reporting period) on government bonds shall be used. The currency and term of 
the corporate bonds or government bonds shall be consistent with the currency and expected term of 
the post-employment benefit obligation. Since there is no deep market for high quality corporate 
bonds in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, therefore, the market yield of government bond is considered. 

Salary increases 

With regards to the past trend, it is assumed that the salaries would increase at a rate of 5.00% per 
annum compound in the long range. 

Turnover 

The Management assumed the "Heavy" age-wise withdrawal rates. It was assumed that out of the 
employees that will cease to be employed in a year, other than by normal retirement or death, 90% 
will be on account of resignation and l 0% on account of termination by the Group. 
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15. EMPLOYEES' END-OF-SERVICE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

15.4 Maturity profile of the defined benefit liability 

2021 2020 

Weighted average duration (years) 7.44 7.82 

Distribution of benefit payments: 2021 2020 

Years Amount 

10,945,904 10,186,507 

2 12,381,424 12,717,122 

3 9,357,298 8,549,431 

4 10,147,958 8,229,939 

5 11,164,260 8,793,346 

6-10 54,052,359 51,312,962 

15 .5 Sensitivity analysis 
Reasonably possible changes as to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other 

assumptions constant, the amount of defined benefit obligations would have been: 

31 December 31 December 

2021 2020 

Increase Decrease Increase Decrease 

Discount rate (0.5% 
movement) 93,384,567 100,605,874 90,624,158 98,126,361 

Future salary growth (0. 5% 
movement) 100,532,484 93,415,352 96,337,369 92,251,617 

Keeping other assumptions constant, if turnover rate is increased or decreased by 10%, the liability 

will be 95,377,619 or 98,395,166 respectively. Similarly, keeping other assumptions constant, if 
mortality rate is increased or decreased by 10%, the liability will be 96,828,192 or 96,924,025 
respectively. 

15 .6 Risks associated with defined benefits plan 

Longevity risks: 
The risk arises when the actual lifetime of retirees is longer than expectation. This risk is measured 
at the plan level over the entire retiree population. 

Salary increase risk: 

The most common type of retirement benefit is one where the benefit is linked with final salary. The 
risk arises when the actual salary increases are higher than expectation and impacts the liability 
according I y. 
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16. LEASE LIABILITY

This represents amount of lease liability as per IFRS 16 for the rented offices of the Group.
Following are the classification and maturity analysis of lease liabilities:

2021 
Opening 

balance 
Interest Addition Pa ment 

Lease liability 13,786,991 956,484 (13,760,562) 

2020 
Opening 
balance 

Interest Addition Payment 
Lease liability 4,263,087 253,057 21,143,570 (12,576,150) 

17. MARGIN DEPOSITS FROM CLEARING PARTICIPANTS

Collateral from clearing members received for their 
- own account
- clients
- initial margin for position

31 December 
Notes 2021 

17.1 

17.2 

17.3 

1,002,106 

12,999,401 
385,200 

14,386,707 

Present value of 

minimum lease 

a ments 

982,913 

Present value of 
minimum lease 

ea�ments 
9,128,643 

31 December 
2020 

1,001,361 
16,539,779 

1,489,200 
19,030,340 

17.1 This represents cash collateral received from clearing members on their own account. 
17.2 This represents cash collateral received from clearing members on account of their customers. 
17.3 This represents cash collateral from clearing members with position. 

18. MEMBERS' CONTRIBUTION TO CLEARING HOUSE FUNDS

This represents prefunded default arrangement that is composed of assets contributed by clearing
member that may be used by the Group in certain circumstances to cover the losses or liquidity
pressure resulting from participant defaults.

19. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

Trade payables: 
Others 
Related parties (Note 31.4) 

20. BALANCE DUE TO CAPITAL MARKET AUTHORITY

31 December 

2021 

6,701,240 

84,470 
6,785,710 

31 December 
2020 

5,898,579 
78,468 

5,977,047 

CMA is entitled to receive a financial return equal to 64% of total trading commission. The Group
collects this return on behalf of CMA and deposit into CMA's account based on its instructions.
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21. DEFERRED REVENUE

31 December 2021 

Opening balance 

3,223,464 

Invoiced during 
the ear 

169,346,097 

Recognised as revenue 
durin the ear 

(169,354,659) 

3 1 December 2020 

Opening balance 

3,134,967 

Invoiced during 

the year 
159,882.943 

Recognised as revenue 

during the year 
(159,794,446) 

22. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accrued employees expenses 

Accrued social insurance - General Organization for 
Social Insurance 

Value added tax (VAT), net 

Board of Directors remuneration payable 
Accrued supplier expenses 
Others 

22. ZAKA T PAYABLE

31 December 
2021 

100,154,729 

1,979,001 
6,637,535 
8,376,167 

114,942,930 
3,994,711 

236,085,074 

Closing balance 

3,214,902 

Closing balance 

3,223,464 

31 December 

2020 

94,647,318 

2,108,213 
10,195,945 
5,470,358 

89,337,624 
4,194,449 

205,953,907 

Effective 1 January 2021, the Group is subject to Zakat in accordance with the Zakat regulation issued
by ZATCA based on Royal Decree 35657 issued on 29/6/1442H. The Group is yet to file its

consolidated Zakat return for the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries with ZATCA. Zakat
charge for the year amounted to be SR 66.22 million.

Share capital 

Statuto1y reserve 

General reserve 

Retained Earnings 

Liabilities and provisions 

Non-current assets 

Zakat base 

Zakat % 

Adjusted profit 

Zakat % 

Zakat charge for the year 
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31 December 
2021 

1,200,000,000 
376,963,633 

1,114,180,214 

943,478,532 
105,554,009 

(1,781,020,140) 
1,959,156,248 

2.5777 

50,501,171 

646,513,937 
2.5 

16,162,848 

66 223,360

31 December 

2020 

1,200,000,000 

326,911,746 

1,114,180,214 

618,313,284 

98,310,239 

(721,787,698) 

2,635,927,785 

2.5847 

68,130,825 

617,217,951 

2.5 

15,430,449 

83,561,274 
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23. ZAKAT PAYABLE (CONTINUED)

Movement of Zakat is as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the year 
Provision for zakat for the period / year 

Current period 
Prior period over charge 

Zakat paid during the period / year 

Balance at the end of the year 

31 December 
2021 

83,561,274 

66,663,698 
440 338) 

66,223,360 
83,120,936) 

66,663,698 

31 December 

2020 

83,561,274 

83,561,274 

83,561,-74 

23.1 The Group filed its Consolidated Zakat return for the year 2020 and settled its Zakat liability 

accordingly, however the Zakat assessment is pending finalization. 

OPERA TING REVENUE 

Revenue recognized at over-time 

Post trade services 
Listing services 
Technology and information services 
Membership 
Derivatives 

Services transferred at point-in-time 

Post trade services 
Trading services 
Technology and information services 
Listing services 
Derivatives 
Membership 

Revenue from contracts with customers 

For the year ended 
31 December 

2020 

87,484,741 86,019,366 

71,513,151 63,765,965 

85,984,733 64,088,607 

2,969,364 2,839,879 

326,210 99,555 

248,278,199 216,813,372 

493,566,233 423,770,783 

406,818,320 379,648,482 

7,279,975 48,407,147 

8,966,800 9,476,090 

915,613 1,276,217 

255,000 243,000 

917,801,941 862,821.719 

1,166,080,140 1,079,635,090 

24.1 In accordance with the Council ofCMA resolution no. (17/270/6) dated 18 January 2017, operating 
revenues arrangement between the Group and CMA effective from l January 201 7 is as follows: 

• CMA is entitled to receive a financial return equal to 64% of total trading commission. The Group
shall collect this return on behalf of CMA and deposit into CMA's account based on its
instructions. However: the CMA share of revenue is not recognized under note 23 and

• The Group is entitled to keep 100% of operating revenue ( except trading commission, which is
subject to the above-mentioned financial return sharing arrangement).
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24. OPERA TING REVENUE (CONTINUED)

24.2 ln the current year, the Group has updated the disaggregation of revenue as disclosed in the financial 
statements. ln order to provide comparability to the amounts disclosed in the prior year annual 
financial statements, a reconciliation is provided below: 

As disclosed in the 
As disclosed in the 

FY 2020 financial Amount 
comparative of FY 

Amount 

statements 
2021 financial 

statements 

Trading services 379,230,324 

Trading commission 767,002,623 Listing services 8,3 I 9,537 
Membership 3,082,879 
Post trade services 376,369,883 

Securities depository Post trade services services 132,255,953 132,255,953 
Market information 112,495,753 Data and technology 112,495,753 services services 

Listing services 65,340,676 Trading services 418,158 
Listing services 64,922,518 

j Clearing fees 943,253 I Derivatives 943,253 I 

Membership 416,967 Derivatives 416,967 
Post trade services -

Other 1,179,865 Post trade services 1,164,313 
Derivatives 15,552 

1,079,635,090 1,079,635,090 
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25. OPERA TING COSTS

Operating costs include direct expenses incurred by the Group to provide services to its customers
and the Saudi financial market. A breakdown of operating costs is as follows:

Salaries and related benefits 
CMA fees 

Maintenance, network and access 
Depreciation and amortization 
Marketing and sponsorship 
Others 
Security expense 
Hospitality and cleaning 
Consultancy 
Utilities 
SAREE system usage fees 
License fees 
Communication 
Business trip 

25.1 

For the year ended 
31 December 

128,243,052 
101,000,000 
50,665,292 
41,585,525 
13,508,593 

2,819,542 
1,703,468 
1,611,630 
1,569,543 

906,022 
725,000 
529,418 
493,250 
31,264 

345,391,599 

134,131,451 
91,000,000 
54,307,911 
31,808,960 

459,632 
2,743,968 
2,071,007 
1,740,702 
3,469,564 

974,729 
1,099,000 

910,744 
447,258 

68,192 

325,233,118 

25.1 This represents fee payable to CMA in relation to services provided to the Group in accordance with 
the council of CMA resolution no. (17/268/6) dated 18 January 2017 and CMA Board decision no. 
(3-2-2020) dated 7 January 2020. 

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

Salaries and related benefits 
Consultancy 
Depreciation and amortization 
Maintenance, network & access 
Board of Directors' remuneration 
License fees 
Marketing and sponsorship 
Training 
Hospitality and cleaning 
Security expense 
Others 
Stationery and office supplies 
Insurance 
Utilities 

Communications 
Business trip 
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For the year ended 31 December 

2021 2020 

138,423,538 
16,364,687 
14,474,175 
13,805,457 

8,388,667 
3,429,378 
3,042,602 
2,416,867 
2,038,518 
1,673,532 
1,508,363 
1,242,283 
1,218,160 

890,270 
716,253 

36,712 

209,669,462 

126,096, 1 73 
11,073,105 
16,151,559 
15,497,931 
6,254,359 
2,166,835 
2,087,106 
2,562,074 
1,861,712 
1,863,725 
4,172,374 

281,323 
1,036,418 

870,601 
324,716 
283,371 

192,583,382 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For year ended 31 December 2021 

(Saudi Arabian Riyals) 

27. IMPAIRMENT REVERSAL/ (LOSS) ON FINANCIAL ASSETS

Impairment (loss)/ reversal on investment at amortised cost 

Impaim1ent reversal/ (loss) on accounts receivable 

Impaim1ent reversal/ (loss) on financial assets 

28. INVESTMENT INCOME

- On financial assets at amortised cost:
Special commission income
Commission from deposits with SAMA
- On financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
Dividend income
Realised gain on sale of investments, net
Unrealised gain on investments, net

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE 

For the year ended 
31 December - ----- ------

2021 2020 

(2,997) 

817,875 

814,878 

1,076,063 

(19,735,859) 

(18,659,796) 

For the year ended 
31 December 

3,519,005 2,856,686 
13,601 4,103 

6,103,257 11,367,239 
8,826,153 15,751,508 

22,134,258 8,817,609 

40,596,274 38,797,145 

Basic and diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing profit attributable to the ordinary 
shareholders of the Company by the weighted average outstanding number of shares for the year 
ended 31 December 2021, totaling 120 million shares (31 December 2020: 120 million shares). 

Net profit for the year 

Weighted average outstanding number of shares 

Earnings per share 

30. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

31 December 

2021 

587,703,531 
120,000,000 

4.90 

31 December 
2020 

500,518,870 

120,000,000 

4.17 

Commitments represent the value of the part not yet executed from supply contracts of assets and

services to the Group as follows:

Purchase of assets 

Committed expenditure 

Letter of guarantee 
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31 December 

2021 

9,643,300 
26,022,315 
1,147,940 

36,813,555 

31 December 

2020 

21,651,765 

24,838,057 

11,300,000 

57,789,822 
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(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY) 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL ST A TEMENTS 
For year ended 31 December 2021 

(Saucli Arahian Riyals) 

30. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)

30.1 The Group, in its ordinary course of business, is subject to proceedings, lawsuits and other claims. 
However, these matters are not expected to have any material impact on the Group's financial 

position or on the results of its operations as reflected in these consolidated financial statements. 

31. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

In the ordinary course of its activities, the Group transacts business with its related parties. Related

parties include PIF (''the shareholder··), Tadawul Real Estate Company ( .. the Associate'"), the
Group· s Board of Directors, and key executives. The related parties also include affiliated entities
which are:

a) Owned by the shareholder;
b) Having common directors on the Company's BOD; and

c) Having common directors on the shareholder's BOD.

31.1 The Group has disclosed the transactions with related parties by each Group company. The revenue 

services provided by each Group company are explained below. 

Transactions with Tadawul Holding Services represents the trading services, listing fees and 
technology and information services which were provided by the parent prior to the Group 

restructuring. However, from 1 June 2021 these services are being provided by Saudi Exchange 
Company and are reported under Saudi Exchange Services. Transaction with Securities Depository 
Services represents the post trade services, while with Securities Clearing Services represents the 
clearing services of derivatives. 

The transactions with related parties during 2021 in relation to the Group's core activities carried out 

through the companies of the Group are as follows: 

Nature of transactions bl'.'. Groan comQanies 

Tadawul Securities Securities Saudi Year ended 31 
Holding Depository Clearing Exchange December 

Nature of relationship Services Services Services Services 2021 
Affiliated entities: 
- owned by the 209,462,863 47,112,988 690 341,708,497 598,285,037 
shareholder
- with common 124,780,302 51,555,897 176,336,199 
directors on the
Company's BOD
- with common 69,311,383 3,459,240 38,100 72,808,723 
directors on the
shareholder's BOD
Total 403,554,548 50,572,228 38,790 393,264,393 847,429,959 

The account receivables balance arising from the above transactions are as follows: 

For the }'.ear ended 31 December 2021 
Opening Ending Loss 

Nature of relationship balance Invoiced Collections balance allowance 

Affiliated entities: 
- owned by the shareholder 2,823,849 598,285,037 (590,796,710) 10,312,176 1,440 
- with common directors on 176,336,199 (175,290,161) 1,046,038 4 
the Company's BOD
- with common directors on 4,393,976 72,808,723 (76,908,745) 293,954 156,240 
the shareholder's BOD
Total 7,217,825 847,429,959 (842,995,616} 11,652,168 157,684 
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31. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)

31.2 The transactions with related parties during 2020 in relation to the Group's core activities carried out 
through the companies of the Group are as follows: 

Nature of transactions by Group companies 

atur·· r relmionshi 
Affiliated entities: 
- owned by the shareholder
- with common directors on
the Company's BOD
- with common directors on
the shareholder's BOD
Total

Tadawul 
Holding 
Services 

75,733,048 

3,356,070 

561,295,279 
640,384,397 

Securities 
Depository 

Services 

23,163,779 

23,163,779 

Securities 
Clearing 
Services 

190,111 

190,111 

The receivables balance arising from the above transactions are as follows: 

For the year ended 31 December 2020 
Opening 

Nature or relationship balance Invoiced Collections 

Affiliated entities: 
- owned by the shareholder 6,286,548 99,086,938 (102,549,637) 
with common directors on
the Company's BOD 1,185,250 3,356,070 (4,541,320) 
with common directors on
the shareholder's BOD 2,559,467 561,295,279 (559,460,770) 
The Associate 105,000 (105,000) 
Total 10,136 26 663,738,287 (666,656,727) 

Year ended 3 1 
December 

2020 

99,086,938 

3,356,070 

561,295,279 
663,738,287 

Ending Loss 
balance allowance 

2,823,849 26,048 

4,393,976 47 

7,217,825 26,095 

31.3 Other balances with related parties included in investments at "FVTPL" are as follows: 

Nature of relationship 

Affiliated entities with 
common directors on 
the Company's BOD 

Nature of relationship 

Affiliated entities with 
common directors on 
the Company's BOD 

Opening 
balance 

1,142,833,446 

Opening 
balance 

1,395,019,617 

For the year ended 31 December 2021 
Purchases/ Unrealized 
(Disposals) gain 

(803,923,117) 6,456,887 

For the year ended 31 December 2020 
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Purchases/ Unrealized 
(Disposals) gain 

(269,427,458) 17,241,287 

Ending 
balance 

345 367 216 

Ending 
balance 

1,142,833,446 
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31. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)

31.4 Other balances with related parties arising out of services received and included within accounts 
payables and accrued expenses are as follows: 

ature of relationship 

Affiliated entities: 
- owned by the shareholder
- with common directors on
the Company's BOD

Total

arure or relalionslrig 

Affiliated entities: 
- owned by the shareholder
- with common directors on
the Company's BOD

Total 

For the year ended 31 December 2021 

Opening Services Payments 

balance received made 

7,743,772 

5,903,691 

13,647,463 

9,039,557 

8,184,167 

17,223,724 

(6,402,069) 

(5,711,691) 

(12,113,760) 

For the year ended 31 December 2020 

Opening Services Payments 
balance received made 

7,455,862 I 0,581,360 (I 0,293,450) 

1,044,440 6,769 077 (1,909,826) 

8,500,302 17,350,437 (12,203,276) 

Ending 
balance 

10,381,260 

8,376,167 

18,757,427 

Ending 
balance 

7,743,772 

5,903,691 

13,647,463 

31.5 Key management consists of the non-executive directors and the executive management. The 
compensation of key management personnel is as follows: 

Salaries and other short-term benefits 
Post-employment benefits 
Board of Directors' remuneration 

32. SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the year ended 31 December 

2021 2020 

20,029,241 30,019,592 

3,547,953 2,180,760 

8,388,667 6,254,359 

31,965,861 38,454,711 
---===-

The Group operates solely in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. For management purposes, the Group is
organized into business units based on services provided. The reportable segments of the Group are 
as under: 

Capital Markets 
The activities of this segment include trading commission for securities and derivatives, admission 
fees from initial listing and further capital raises, annual fees charged for securities traded on the 
Group's markets, and fees from our secondary market services. 

Post Trade 
The activities of this segment include registration of investment portfolios in the filing and settlement 
system, register and file its ownership, transfer, settlement, clearing and safekeeping its ownership, 
registering any restriction of ownership on the file securities, and associate with members of the 
market and settlement agents to filing and settlement system. Further, linking and managing records 
of securities issuers, organize general assemblies for issuers including remote voting service for such 
assemblies, provide reports, notifications and information in addition to providing any other service 
relating to its activities according to financial market regulations. This business unit covers revenue 
from the post trade services. 
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32. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Data & Technology Services

The activities of this segment is to grow business of Technology Services which includes offering
high-quality real-time trading data, reference data, market indices, financial information to the
financial conununity, financial technology solutions, research and development in the field of
engineering and technology, innovative capital market solutions for stakeholders. This business unit
covers revenue from the Data and technology services.

Corporate 

Corporate manages future corporate development and controls all treasury related functions. All 
investments are incubated within this category, which also comprise managing strategy for business 
development, legal, finance, operations, human resources and customers' relation management. 

32.1 Information about reportable segments: 

2021 Capital Data& 
Technolog:y Post-Trade Total Markets Services 

Segment revenue 489,841,483 93,264,708 582,973,948 1,166,080,140 
Segment profit before zakat 319,752,926 59,762,419 258,229,121 637,744,466 
Depreciation and amortisation 24,267,966 3,583,589 26,425,184 54,276,739 
Segment profit after zakat 319,752,926 59,762,419 25822292121 637,744,466 
2020 Data& 

CaQital Markets Technology Post-Trade Total 
Services 

Segment revenue 455,369,150 112,495,753 511,770,187 1,079,635,090 
Segment profit before zakat 286,095,270 85,901,318 210,386,945 582,383,533 
Depreciation and amortisation 18,564,325 2,899,030 25,084,276 46,547,630 
Segment profit after zakat 286,095,270 85,901,318 210,386,945 582,383,533 

32.2 Reconciliation of ieformation on reportable segments to the amounts reported in the financial 
statements: 

i. Net profit for the year
Data& 

2021 Capital Market Technology Post-Trade 
Services 

Total profit before zakat 
for reportable segments 319,752,926 59,762,419 258,229,121 
Profit before zakat for 

other segments 
Unallocated amounts: 
- Other corporate
income
- Other corporate

expenses
Consolidated profit
before zakat
Zakat expense
Consolidated profit after

zakat

319,752,926 59,762,419 258,229,121 

319,752,926 59,762,419 258,229,121 
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Total 

637,744,466 

43,049,411

(26,866,993: 

653,926,891 
(66,223,360) 

587,703,531 
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32. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Data& 

2020 Capital Market Technology 

Services 

Total profit before zakat 

for reportable segments 286,095,270 85,901,318 

Profit before Zakat for 

other segments 

Unallocated amounts: 

- Other corporate income

- Other corporate

expenses

Consolidated profit before 

zakat 286,095,270 85,901,318 

Zakat expense 

Consolidated profit after 

zakat 286,095,270 85,901,318 

i. Operating revenue

2021 
apital Data & Technology 

Market 

Revenue recognised at a point-in-time 

Trading Services 

Technology Services 

Post Trade Services 

Listing Services 

Derivatives 

Membership 

406,818,320 

8,966,800 

805,870 

135,000 

Revenue recognised over-time 

Technology Services 

Trading Services 

Listing Services 

Post Trade 

Derivatives 

Membership 

Consolidated revenue 

71,513,151 

133,141 

1,469,200 

489,841,483 

Services 

7,279,975 

85,984,733 

93,264,708 
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Post-Trade 

210,386,945 

8,585,615 

10,222,787 

208,749,773 

208,749,773 

Post-Trade 

493,795,975 

87,177,973 

582,973,948 

Total 

582,383,533 

41,174, 06 

(39,477,796} 

584,080,143 

(83,561,274) 

500,518,870 

Total 

406,818,320 

7,279,975 

493,566,233 

8,966,800 

915,613 

255,000 

85,984,733 

71,513,151 

87,484,741 

326,210 

2,969,364 

1,166,080,140 
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32. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Data& 

2020 Capital Market Technology 
Services 

Revenue recognised at a point-in-time 

Trading Services 

Technology Services 

Post Trade 

Listing Services 

Derivatives 

Membership 

379,648,481 

9,476,090 

891,365 

123,000 

Revenue recognised over-time 

Technology Services 

Trading Services 

Listing Services 

Post Trade 

Derivatives 

Membership 

Consolidated revenue 

63,765,965 

42,588 

1,421,660 

455,369,150 

48,407,147 

64,088,607 

112,495,753 

Post-Trade 

424,275,635 

87,494,552 

511,770,187 

Total 

379,648,481 

48,407,147 

423,770,783 

9,476,090 

1,276,217 

243,000 

64,088,607 

63,765,965 

86,019,366 

99,555 

2,839 879 

1,079,635,090 

32.3 In the current year, the Group has updated its operating segments as reviewed by the Chief Operating 
Decision Makers of the Group. In order to provide comparability to the amounts disclosed in the prior 
year annual financial statements, a reconciliation is provided below: 

i. N f i th et pro ,t or e year

Segments as disclosed

in the FY 2020 

financial statements 

Markets 

Derivatives 

Edaa 

Muqassa 

Market information 

Segments as disclosed 

Amount 
in the comparative of 

FY 2021 financial 

statements 

308,924,147 
Capital Markets 

(22,828,877) 

279,659,576 
Post trade 

(70,909,803) 

85,901,318 
Data and technology 

services 

580,746,361 
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Amount 

286,095,270 

208,749,773 

85,901,318 

580 746,361 
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32. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

ii. Operating revenue

Segments as disclosed 
Segments as disclosed 

in the FY 2020 Amount 
in the comparative of 

financial statements 
FY 2021 financial 

statements 

Markets 454,435,197 
Capital Markets 

Derivatives 933,953 

Edaa 511,328,368 
Post trade 

Muqassa 441,819 

Market information 112,495,753 
Data and technology 

services 

1,079,635,090 

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Amount 

455,369,150 

511,770,187 

112,495,753 

1,079,635,090 

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

- Market risk;

- Credit risk;
- Operational risk; and
- Liquidity risk.

This note presents information about the Group's exposure to each of the above risks, the Group's 

objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing these risks. Further quantitative 
disclosures are included throughout these consolidated financial statements. 

Risk Management framework 
The Board of Directors has an overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the 
Group's risk management framework. The Board is responsible for developing and monitoring the 

Group's risk management policies. Furthermore, the Board reviews reports from relevant committees 

in relation to the above on a regular basis. 
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The Group's risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the
Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk
management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and
the Group's activities. The Group, through its training and management standards and procedures,
aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees
understand their roles and obligations.

Risk management structure
A cohesive organisational structure is established within the Group in order to identify, assess,
monitor and control risks.

Board of Directors
The apex of risk governance is the centralised oversight of the Board of Directors providing direction
and the necessary approvals of strategies and policies in order to achieve defined corporate goals.

Senior management

Senior management is responsible for the day to day operations towards achieving the strategic goals
within the Group's pre-defined risk appetite.

The risks faced by the Group and the way these risks are mitigated by management are summarised
below:

33.1 Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate, 
because of changes in market prices whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the 
individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments 
traded in the market. The Group limits market risk by maintaining a diversified portfolio and by 
monitoring the developments in financial markets. Market risk reflects price risk, currency risk and 
special commission rate risk. 

Price risk 
Price risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market 
prices. The Group's price risk exposure relates to its quoted investments in mutual funds whose 
values will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices. 

A 1 % change in the redemption prices and quoted prices of the investments, with all other variables 
held constant, would impact the statement of profit or loss as set out below: 

Effect on profit for the period 

Currency risk 

For the year ended 31 December 

2021 2020 

(+/-) 25,294,964 (+/-) 31,035,190 

Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign 

exchange rates. The Group is subject to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates in the normal course 
of its business. The Group did not undertake significant transactions in currencies other than Saudi 
Arabian Riyals. 
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Commission rate risk
Commission risk is represented by the exposure to multiple risks related to the impact of changes in
commission rates in the market on the Group's financial position and cash flows. The Group monitors
the fluctuations in commission rates and believes that the impact of commission rates risk is not

significant as financial instruments held by the Group are not exposed to variable commission rate
risk.

33.2 Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial 

instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Group's 
receivables from customers and investment in debt securities. 

The below schedule shows the maximum limit for exposure to credit risk of the consolidated 
statement of financial position elements: 

Investments at amortized cost 
Advance for purchase of property 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Accounts receivable 

Deposits with SAMA 

Accrued operational revenue 
Other receivables 

Advance to employees 

Casli and cash qui, a/el'l(S 

31 December 

2021 

156,565,076 

77,500,000 

76,197,458 

60,547,611 

28,013,567 

9,064,755 

5,425,592 

5,404,641 

418,718,700 

31 December 
2020 

101,311,751 
77,500,000 
96,798,376 
83,978,412 
32,177,558 

10,108,448 
2,598,810 
2,875,632 

407, 48,987 

The Group kept its surplus funds with banks having sound credit ratings. Currently the surplus funds 
are kept with banks having rating as follows: 

Fitch 

Long term Short term 

BBB+ F2 

Investments at amortized cost 

Moody's 

Long term Short term 

Al P-1

This represents investment in Sukuk issued by counter parties operating in Kingdom of Saudi Arabia 
having sound credit ratings. 

Deposits with SAMA 

This represents deposits with Saudi Central Bank, the central bank of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, 
therefore, no significant credit risk is involved. 
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Account receivables

Account receivables are shown net of allowance for credit losses. The Group applies IFRS 9
simplified approach in measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance. To measure the expected credit losses, account receivables have been grouped based on
the days past due. The historical loss rates adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information
on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.

Accrued operational re1·e1/tll:'

Accrued operating revenue represents earned revenue which is yet to be billed to the customers.
These are short-term in nature and no significant credit risk exist in the balance.

Advance to emplovee

This represents advances provided to employees on their request. Such advances are deducted from
their monthly salaries therefore no significant credit risk exist in the balance.

Athia11c for pun:hase o[propertv

The Group is in the process of acquiring the second floor of the data center in the King Abdullah
Financial District in Riyadh (the "Data Centre") for the purposes of its operations the payment is
made to SAMA which is the central bank of Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Hence no significant credit
risk exists in the balance.
Other receivables

Other receivables represent receivables from low credit risk counterparties and is short-term in
nature.

33.3 Concentration of credit risk 

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and expected credit losses 
for receivables as at 31 December 2021. 

Weighted Gross 

average carrying Loss Credit 

loss rate% amount allowance impaired 

0-30 days (not past due) 0.01 34,934,306 4,343 No 
30-60 days 1.07 1,238,314 13,222 No 
61-90 days 1.87 500,119 9,361 No 
91-120 days 3.73 446,877 16,662 No 
121-180 days 15.08 857,750 129,380 Yes 
181-360 days 51.07 40,145,024 20,500,343 Yes 
More than 360 days past due 62.31 8,220,940 5,122,408 Yes 

86,343,330 25,795,719 
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33.4 

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and expected credit losses
for receivables as at 31 December 2020:

Weighted Gross 
average carrymg Loss Credit 

loss rate% amount allowance impaired 

0-30 days (not past due) 27.03 72,287,674 19,539,792 No 
30-60 days 1.34 519,181 6,963 No 
61-90 days 2.88 159,588 4,602 No 
91-120 days 4.44 74,013 3,283 No 
121-180 days 18.05 308,439 55,679 Yes 
181-360 days 45.13 2,012,859 908,403 Yes 
More than 360 days past due 70.72 8 616.658 6,094,872 Yes 

83,978,412 26,613,594 

Operational risk 

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated 
with the Group's processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other 
than credit, market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements 
and generally accepted standards of corporate behavior. Operational risks arise from all of the 
Group's operations. 

The Group's objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses 
and damage to the Group's reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures 
that restrict initiative and creativity. 

Compliance with the Group's standards is supported by a program of periodic reviews undertaken 
by Internal Audit. The results of Internal Audit reviews are discussed with the management of the 

business unit to which they relate, with summaries submitted to the Audit Committee and senior 
management of the Group. 
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33.5 Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering 
cash or another financial asset. The Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet 
its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group·s reputation. 

The below schedule shows an analysis of financial assets and liabilities based on the contractual maturities: 

31 December 2021 3 I December 2020 

Carrying Less than 12 More than 12 Less than 12 More than 12 
amount months months Total months months Total 

Financial assets at fair value: 
Investments 2,687,005,185 2,631,732,808 55,272,377 2,687,005,185 3, I 04,830, 715 I 00,000,000 3,204,830,715 

Financial assets at amortised cost: 
Cash and cash equivalents 76,197,458 76,197,458 76,197,458 96,798,376 96,798,376 
Deposits with SAMA 28,013,567 28,013,567 28,013,567 32,177,558 32,177,558 

Account receivables 60,547,611 60,547,611 60,547,61 I 57,364,818 - 57,364,818 

Accrued operational revenue 9,064,755 9,064,755 9,064,755 I 0, I 08,448 I 0, I 08,448 

Advance to employees 5,404,641 5,404,641 - 5,404,641 2,875,632 2,875,632 

Advance for purchase of property 77,500,000 77,500,000 77,500,000 77,500,000 77,500,000 

Other receivables 5,425,592 5.425,592 5,425,592 2,598,810 2.598,810 

Total financial assets 2,871,658,809 2.893,886.432 5�,272,377 2,871,658,809 3,306,754.357 100.000,000 3,406,754,357 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 
Margin deposits rrom clearing participants 14,386,707 14,386,707 - 14,386,707 19,030,340 19,030,340 

Members· contribution to clearing house 3,626,642 3,626,642 - 3,626,642 

funds 3,147.217 3,147,217 

Lease liability 982,913 982,913 982,913 9,128,643 4,658,348 13.786,991 

Accounts payable 121,728,641 121,728,641 121,728,641 95,314.671 95,314,671 

Balance due to Capital Market Authority 22,280,843 22,280,843 22,280,843 32,758,785 32,758,785 

Accrued expenses and other current 121,142,143 121,142,143 121,142,143 

liabilities 104Jl2, l'l5 I 04,312.125 

Total financial liabilities 381,024,074 284,147,889 96,876,185 381,024,074 263,69 I ,781 95,682,394 359,374,175 

Net financial assets 2,568,134,735 2,609,738,543 (41,603,808) 2,568,134,735 3, 120.562,576 4.317.606 3,124,880.182 
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34. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Underlying the
definition of fair value is the presumption that the Group is a going concern and there is no
intention or requirement to curtail materially the scale of its operations or to undertake a
transaction on adverse tenns.

A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and
regularly available from an exchange dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory
agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm's
length basis.

When measuring the fair value, the Group uses market observable data as far as possible. Fair
values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in
the valuation techniques as follows.

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that can be
accessed at the measurement date

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs).

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities, including their levels in the fair value hierarchy. The fair value of all other/ remaining
financial assets and financial liabilities not mentioned below approximates to their carrying
values.

Investments at FVTPL classified as level 2 include units of mutual funds, the fair value of which
is determined based on the latest reported net assets value (NAV) as at the date of consolidated
statement of financial position.

31 December 2021 

Carrying fair value Total fair 
value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 value 

Investments 

- at amortised cost

Sukuks 156,565,076 156,565,076 156,565,076 

- at FVTPL

Money market 
funds 2,499,724,667 2,499,724,667 - 2,499,724,667

Real estate funds 30,715,442 30,715,442 30,715,442 
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31 December 2020 

Carrying fair value 
Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Investments 

- at amortised cost

Sukuks 101,267,886 101,267,886 

- at FVTPL

Money market 
funds 3,074,346,514 3,074,346,514 

Real estate funds 29,172,450 29,172,450 

Total fair 
value 

101,267,886 

3,074,346,514 

29,172,450 

There were no transfers between level 1 and level 2 fair value measurements, and no transfers 
into or out of level 3 fair value measurements as of 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: Nil). 

35. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There is no event subsequent to the year-end which requires adjustment to or disclosure in these
consolidated financial statements.

36. DIVIDEND

The Board of Directors of the Company in their meeting dated 18 May 2021 recommended the
declaration of dividends amounting to SR 120 million to the PIF. In their fourteenth Ordinary
General Assembly held on 02 June 2021, PIF approved the dividends declaration and payment was
made.

On 24 June 2021, The Board of Directors of the Company recommended declaration of an
additional dividends amounting to SR 1000 million to the PIF. In their Fifteenth Extra Ordinary
General Assembly held on 28 June 2021, PIF approved the dividends declaration and payment was
made.

37. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors on 2 Shaban
1443H corresponding to 5 March 2022.
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